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BOU AT A GLANCE

Students Enrolment
Tertiary – 6341; Annual Graduation – 2071
Open Schooling - 2806

Our People
Total No of Academic Staff 

Lecturers - 33
Part Time Tutors – 1151

Total No. of Support Staff - 186
Total No. of Women in Leadership Roles

Executive Management Team – 2 of 4 (50%)
Senior Management Team – 16 of 27 (60%)

Community Engagement Projects
Total No. of Community Engagement Projects - 6

Qualifications/Programmes 
Registered /Accredited 

Total No. of Qualifications/Programmes 
Registered /Accredited – 20

Online Programmes 
Total No. of Online Programmes - 20

New Programmes Developed/Reviewed 
Total No. of Reviewed Programmes  - 13
Total No. of New Programmes - 7

Research Outputs
Total No. of Research Outputs - 34
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FOREWORD BY THE 
CHANCELLOR

We, the Botswana Open University, present this 
Report to our stakeholders. The Report covers 
the performance for the year 2022 – 2023. The 
year has been very difficult and challenging, given 
the economic hardships the country is going 
through, which have equally directly affected 
the financing of institutions dependent on 
Government subvention such as the Botswana 
Open University. In response, the University 
adopted several cost containment strategies and 
measures which to a large extent have helped the 
University to remain afloat despite the financial 
hardships. I strongly wish to commend the 
leadership of Botswana Open University for this 
demonstration of resilience and responsiveness to 
these and other emerging challenges. Testimony 
to this is the achievement of the Strategic 
Objectives set at the commencement of the year. 
This Report elucidates the performance of the 
various objectives. 

It is also pleasing to note that the University has 
just come to the end of the first phase of the 
Strategic Framework, 2036. The Framework is 

a 4-step journey to BOU becoming a “Globally 
Recognised Open University by 2036”. The 
theme for the first phase of this Framework was 
“A Technology Enhanced Open University”. I have 
no doubt that the University has achieved this 
goal. Indeed most of the University programmes 
and services are offered through the use of 
technology. The University will in the next year 
embark on the second phase which is themed 
“An Inclusive Open University”. I therefore 
implore all relevant stakeholders to join the BOU 
family in ensuring the attainment of inclusivity.

One of the greatest achievements this year is the 
role played by the Botswana Open University in 
winning the bid for Botswana Government to host 
the Pan Commonwealth Forum 11 Conference 
(PCF 11) in 2025. The University has been tasked 
with the planning and implementation of the 
PCF 11 on behalf of the Ministry of Education 
and Skills Development (MESD). The Pan 
Commonwealth Forum takes place every three 
years under the auspices of the Commonwealth 
of Learning (COL), an organisation whose 
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formation and commissioning was sanctioned 
by the Commonwealth Heads of State in 1987 
to use distance learning and technologies for 
expanding access to education and training 
in the Commonwealth. I wish to congratulate 
the University for this achievement. This in my 
view, is a clear testimony that being a globally 
recognised university is more than attainable. 
This is the third time that this conference, in its 
many years of existence, has come to Africa and 
it is being held in Botswana for the first time. This 
is highly commendable. 

I want to conclude my message by congratulating 
BOU Council, for providing sound strategic 
leadership in steering the University to this level 
of achievement amid the prevailing economic 
challenges. 

It would be remiss of me, if I did not recognise the 
efforts of BOU Staff as a whole. Nothing could 
have been accomplished without their meritorious 
contribution. It is through their innovative 
inclination, collective effort, and dedication that 
the University has been able to grow. I urge Staff 
to be cognisant of the fact that the University is 
here for the betterment of every Motswana and 
the improvement of life in the global space. 

Prof Sheila Dinotshe Tlou
Chancellor
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ABOUT  THE INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT
Our Integrated Report is developed  in terms 
of the International Integrated Reporting 
Framework. It is informed by the University’s 
Vision, Strategic Framework, Strategic Plan and 
Corporate Governance Principles. The University 
is committed to continue making improvements 
in integrated reporting over the years.

Scope

The Report covers operations over the reporting 
period from the 1st April 2022 to the 31st March 
2023. The Report contains financial data regarding 
our operations over the financial year, strategic 
performance and a story on value-addition. There 
are also customised reports by the Chancellor 
(describing the context in which the University 
operates) and the Chairperson of the University 
Council (describing the Council’s governance over 
the period). The Vice Chancellor reports on the 
University’s strategic priorities and achievements.  

The Report also describes how the University 
has used different capitals to create value in the 
short, medium and long term. This focus on value 
creation accords with the principles provided 
by the International <IR> Framework of the 
International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC), 
which provides that “communication about value 
creation should be the next step in the evolution 
of corporate reporting”. 

Approving the Annual Report

The production of the Annual Report is a statutory 
requirement in terms of the Botswana Open 
University Act, No 13 of 2017. The Act requires 
the submission of an Annual Report within six 
(6) months of the end of the Financial year to the 
Minister of Education and Skills Development, 
which is by 30th September of every year. 
Council approves the Report for publication and 
submission to the Minister.  

Image by Freepik
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ABOUT BOTSWANA OPEN UNIVERSITY

Our Purpose 

Botswana Open University derives its 
purpose from the Act of Parliament 
which promulgated its existence. The 
primary purpose of BOU is to provide 
quality education through Open and 
Distance Learning.

Our Vision
To Inspire Excellence and Present Life-
Long Learning Opportunities Globally.

Our Mission
To provide quality academic programmes 
and services through teaching and 
learning, research and innovation, and 
community engagement for a prosperous 
knowledge-based society.

Our Values
• Excellence 

• Student-centredness 

• Equity 

• Integrity 

• Academic Freedom 

• Accountability 

• Collegiality 

• Compassion

Image by Freepik
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MAUN REGIONAL CAMPUS FRANCISTOWN REGIONAL CAMPUS 
• Makalamabedi 
• Shakawe 
• Seronga PALAPYE REGIONAL CAMPUS 

• Ramokgwebana 
• Zwenshambe 
• SowaTown 

KANG REGIONAL CAMPUS 
• Gumare 
• Rakops 
• Gweta 

• Selibe Phikwe 
• Machaneng 
• Letlhakane 

• Tshesebe 
• Masunga 
• Kasane 

• Tsau • Mahalapye • Tonota 
• Moiyabana • Nata 
• Maunatlala 

• Charles Hill 
• Mabutsane 
• Tshabong 
• Hukuntsi 
• Khakhea 
• Gantsi 

• Bobonong 
• Mopipi 

GABORONE REGIONAL CAMPUS 

• Molepolole 
• Ramotswa 
• Moshupa 
• Jwaneng 
• Mochudi 
• Lobatse 
• Artesia 
• Kanye 

OUR BUSINESS MODEL
BOU is an Open and Distance Learning Institution. It operates through five Regional Campuses 
strategically located in five major regions namely Gaborone (Southern), Francistown (North-East), Kang 
(Kgalagadi), Maun (North-West) and Palapye (Central) in order to promote access to students. The 
University focuses on its key stakeholders and how to satisfy their needs by means of value-adding 
activities such as the effective delivery of academic programmes, research, effective engagement with 
stakeholders, and good corporate governance. The University thrives on partnerships in collaborations 
that enable its delivery of the mandate.
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WHAT WE DO
•	 Teaching and Learning 

•	 Curriculum Development

•	 Programme Development

•	 Research and Innovation

•	 Continuing Professional Development 

•	 Community Engagement 

OUR STAKEHOLDERS
•	 Government (Shareholder) 

•	 Governing Body

•	 Staff

•	 Students 

•	 Donors

•	 Partners

•	 Research foundations 

•	 The Community (civil society, non-
governmental organisations, industry, other 
universities, schools, advisory councils, 
service providers and the media).
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
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STATEMENT BY THE 
CHAIRPERSON OF COUNCILCHAIRPERSON OF COUNCIL

The year 2022-23 has been characterised 
by among others, fiscal challenges due to a 
reduction in government subvention precipitated 
by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and 
the current geographical conflicts and struggles. 
This year, the government subvention to BOU 
was P117 million, which accounts for 80% of 
the University’s budget. To make ends meet, 
the University had to suspend some of the key 
operations as well as capital expenditure. This 
financial situation threatened the going concern 
and sustainability of the institution. 

In order to address the fiscal challenge, 
implementation of the two critical instruments 
namely the Asset Utilisation Plan and the 
Cost Containment Plan commenced. These 
instruments are intended to assist the University 
in the effective use of assets to generate and 
maximise revenue and to embed a sustainable 
cost control culture in the institution aimed at 
reducing expenses in operations. 

It is noteworthy that this year was the final year 
of the first phase (the 2019-2023 Strategic Plan) 
of the 2036 Strategic Framework. Therefore BOU 
looks forward to the development of the second 
phase spanning the period 2023-2028. A reflection 

on the performance of the 2019-2023 Strategic 
Plan culminated into the following implications 
that the University will prioritise in the next phase 
of the Strategic Framework and the 2023-2028 
Strategic Plan:

Teaching and Learning 

- Highlighting the need to focus on 
internationally recognised programmes/
courses with a focus on future jobs.

-  Ensuring inclusivity in programme offerings 
targeting the youth,  women and the 
marginalised population

Research 

-  There is need to engage in impactful 
research activities that benefit our 
communities and the nation at large .

Climate Change
-  The University will leverage the 

implementation of the Climate Change 
Policy in National Development Plan 12, 
especially the use of renewable energy, 
recycling and rainwater catchment.

Village Connectivity by Government 
 The University will leverage on the rolling 

out of a three-phased School Digitalisation 
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Plan with enhanced integration of ICT in 
teaching and learning.

Funding 

–  The quest for alternative revenue sources 
is crucial and shall be pursued. 

While the University achieved a score of 87.3% 
on performance in the just ended 2019-2023 
Strategic Plan, the key challenges experienced 
which impacted optimal performance include:

•	 Funding of BOU operations, given the 
subvention cuts.

•	 The impact of online assessments on 
academic integrity. 

•	 A less than optimal student information 
management system that presents challenges 
in the University’s admission and enrolment 
processes.  

•	 Low research uptake by Staff.

•	 Increasing competition arising from high 
uptake of online learning by conventional 
learning institutions.

The University will develop measures to address 
these issues in readiness for the next Strategic 
Plan.

I want to thank the Vice Chancellor and his 
Executive Management Team for steering the 
University so effectively in such challenging times. 
I also want to appreciate the Staff Members for 
their loyalty, continued resilience and commitment 
to executing the mandate during  this trying 
time. I look forward to the development of the 
2023-2028 Strategic Plan as Council continues to 
provide oversight and strategic direction to the 
University.

Mr Charles Coyne II
Chairperson of Council



Annual Report 2022\23
BOU Integrated 11

11

BOU Integrated Annual Report 2022-23

STATEMENT BY THE 
VICE CHANCELLOR

The report under review showcases the 
performance of the institution in 2022-23 
which represents the  fourth and final year of 
implementing the 2019-2023 Strategic Plan 
within the scope of the BOU 2036 Strategic 
Framework. I should hasten to observe, however, 
that the University continues to face dire 
financial challenges which have compromised 
the robustness of its efforts to drive processes 
towards the achievement of set targets. For 
example, lower enrolments were registered 
relative to the targets for two years following 
the COVID-19 pandemic. Tracer surveys have 
indicated that most of the students who secured 
admission into BOU programmes and failed 
to enrol were facing financial challenges. The 
University has since opened enrolment for new 
intake in Semester Two that targets students 
who although admitted in Semester One have not 
registered. Few students took up the opportunity 
but it is hoped that this will improve as we 
continue to avail this avenue. 

This Annual Report, however, validates the 
resilience of the University in delivering on 
critical targets and initiatives against externalities 
and budgetary constraints. While there was no 
budget for capital expenditure and very little for 
operations, colleagues were able to implement 
low financial bearing initiatives to achieve the 
set targets. The Report provides information on 
the commitments and goals which informed our 
annual performance for the year under review 
and reports on the University’s performance on 
key areas as articulated in the scorecard. The 
report on the Strategy and Scorecard page 26-29 
gives more detail of the University’s performance 
during the year. 

Thank you.

Dr Daniel Tau
Vice Chancellor
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•	 Legal	Services
•	 Strategy	Office
•	 Internal	Audit
•	 College	of	Open	

						Schooling

•	 Financial	Services
•	 Human	Resources
•	 Corporate	Relations	and	Marketing
•	 Information	Technology
•	 Infrastructure	and	Office	Services	
•	 Procurement

•	 School	of	Education
•	 School	of	Science	&	Technology
•	 School	of	Business	&	Management	Studies
•	 School	of	Social	Sciences

•	 Centre	for	Graduate	Studies
•	 Centre	for	Continuing	Professional	Development
•	 Office	of	Research	&	Innovation
•	 Office	of	Publishing	Services
•	 Centre	for	Technology	Enhanced	Learning	&	Teaching
•	 Office	of	Quality	Assurance
•	 Office	of	Partnerships
•	 Academic	Registry
•	 SADC-CDE

•	 Library	and	Information	Services
•	 Student	Affairs	&	Welfare
•	 Regional	Campuses

•	 Francistown	Regional	Campus
•	 Gaborone	Regional	Campus
•	 Kang	Regional	Campus
•	 Maun	Regional	Campus
•	 Palapye	Regional	Campus

Office	of	the	President

Ministry	of	Education,	
and	Skills	Development

Chancellor

Vice	ChancellorSenate Executive	Management	Team

Deputy	Vice	Chancellor
Student	Services

Deputy	Vice	Chancellor
Academic	ServicesDeputy	Vice	Chancellor

Corporate	Services

Council

OUR GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
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THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT  TEAM

Dr D. Tau
Vice Chancellor

OFFICE OF THE 
VICE CHANCELLOR

 
The mandate of the Office of the Vice Chancellor 
(OVC) is determined by the University’s Act under 
direct oversight of the University Council. The 
Vice Chancellor serves as the Chief Executive 
Officer of the University responsible for providing 
overall leadership to the development and 
implementation of policies and strategies for 
executing the University’s mandate, as well as 
ensuring the adherence of the University to these 
policies. Accountable to Council and Senate, the 
OVC facilitates the development of a vision and 
sets the goals for the University and provides 
effective leadership towards the realisation 
of vision and goals. The Office, through the 
subsequent structures, oversees the optimal use 
of resources to run the operations of the University 
in accordance with the direction established in the 
strategic plans. At the peak of its operations, the 
OVC is expected to lead and inspire the highest 
standards of knowledge creation and sharing to 
support the delivery of world class education and 
academic excellence and advance the national 
economic development agenda.

These support arms of the University report to 
the Office of the Vice Chancellor:

◊	 Legal Services

◊	 Strategy Office

◊	 Internal Audit

◊	 College of Open Schooling

The Executive Management Team is made up of the Vice Chancellor and the Deputy Vice Chancellors
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This Office is responsible for BOU’s strategic goal of delivering academic excellence programmes and 
services to the public. These include technology-enhanced academic programmes, relevant research 
and innovation, and strong collaboration and partnership. The Division does this through the four Schools 
namely the School of Business and Management Studies, the School of Education, the 
School of Social Sciences and the School of Science and Technology. The Division works 
with departments and directorates which provide enhancement, support and help to ensure the quality 
of the operations such as the Office of Quality Assurance which monitors the quality of programmes 
by working with the Schools and the Botswana Qualifications Authority in the qualification registration 
and programme accreditation processes, as well as the Center for Teaching, Enhanced Learning 
and Technology (CTELT) which coordinates the technology-enhancement process of teaching and 
learning, using established University policies and the Moodle learning  management system platform. 

Furthermore, the division oversees the functions responsible for: 

◊ Research, Innovation and Partnerships 

◊ Office of  Publishing Services 

◊ Centre for Continuing Professional Development

◊ Southern African Development Community Centre for Distance Education (SADC-
CDE) 

◊ Centre for Graduate Studies  

◊ Academic Registry

OFFICE OF THE 
DEPUTY VICE CHANCELLOR

ACADEMIC SERVICES 
Prof K.H. Moahi

14
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The Division of Corporate Services is headed by the Vice Chancellor whose office provides strategic 
leadership and management in the institution’s support functions to ensure adherence to good corporate 
governance and industry best practices. It is amongst other duties, responsible for the production and 
management of the institution’s budget in liaison with respective departments and ensures availability 
of University revenue to sustain the business. It also ensures adequate manpower resourcing and 
recruitment, staff development and good industrial relations. The office is responsible for Procurement 
of the University services and products as may be necessary from time to time. It is also responsible 
for the provision of IT infrastructure, networks and associated systems and tools to enable and support 
the institution’s business. It also provides infrastructure and office service solutions. Its other mandate 
is to reach out to prospective customers, investors and/or the community, while creating an image that 
portrays the institution in a positive light.

The Division effectively carries out its mission through the following Departments:

◊ Financial Services

◊ Human Resources

◊ Corporate Relations and Marketing

◊ Information Technology

◊ Infrastructure and Office Services 

◊ Procurement

◊ Business Development

OFFICE OF THE 
DEPUTY VICE CHANCELLOR

CORPORATE SERVICES 
Ms L. Lesetedi

15
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The Division of Student Services is responsible for providing university-wide holistic student support. 
It promotes student retention, persistence, satisfaction and success.  The Division initiates, develops 
and delivers student support programmes. Its mandate is driven from the Office of the Deputy Vice 
Chancellor Student Services. However, implementation is effected through its five Regional Campuses 
and two Departments, namely, the Library and Information Systems, and the Student Affairs and 
Welfare. Its key student services and programmes are offered using online platforms with some limited 
face-to-face contact. Some of the services include; e-counselling, e-tutoring, shared content on google 
drive, e-mails, chat forums for both tutors and students and WhatsApp personalised support and group 
engagements and some drop-in face-to-face counselling and advice. 

Under the Office of Deputy Vice Chancellor Student Services, there are Departments that contribute to 
the University mission and success. These are:

◊ Library and Information Services

◊ Student Affairs and Welfare

◊ Regional Campuses

•	 Gaborone Regional Campus

•	 Francistown Regional Campus

•	 Palapye Regional Campus

•	 Maun Regional Campus

•	 Kang Regional Campus

OFFICE OF THE 
DEPUTY VICE CHANCELLOR

STUDENT SERVICES

Dr G. Gatsha 

16
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COUNCIL



BOU Integrated Annual Report 2022-23

18

Mr I. Magare
Term Ended June 2022

Mr U. Ndadi Prof B. MorolongProf K.H. Moahi

Mr K. Ramoroka

Mr C. Coyne
Chairperson

Prof M. E. Makoe Ms J. Bahuma
Term Ended June 2022

     THE UNIVER   SITY COUNCIL

Dr D. Tau
Vice Chancellor
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Dr J. Agolla
Appointed July 2022

Ms T. Nkolo
Appointed July 2022

Ms T. Magang Mr G. Molefe

Prof S. Aiyuk

Ms F.S. Bakwena
Vice Chairperson

Mr O. Masesane Ms O. Sechele

     THE UNIVER   SITY COUNCIL
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The University Council is the governing body 
of Botswana Open University. Council was 
established in terms of Section 10(2) of the BOU 
Act of 2017. The composition and functions of 
Council are as set out in the Act. 

Council is committed to adhering to good 
corporate governance principles as set out in the 
King IV Code and has in this regard adopted a 
number of corporate governance protocols such 
as the Council Charter, a Code of Conduct, and 
a Conflict of Interest Policy. Council continues to 
comply with these policies.

MEMBERSHIP OF COUNCIL AND 
ATTENDANCE 

Member Attendance
Mr Charles Coyne (Chairperson) 7/7

Ms Festina S. Bakwena (Vice 
Chairperson)

7/7

Dr Daniel Tau (Vice Chancellor) 6/7

Prof Kgomotso H. Moahi 7/7

Mr Uyapo Ndadi 4/7

Mr Kgopotso Ramoroka 7/7

Mr Godfrey Molefe 6/7

Ms Tsoseletso Magang 7/7

Professor Mpine E. Makoe 4/7

Professor Sunny Aiyuk 7/7

Ms Onalenna Sechele 5/7

Mr Oupa Masesane 7/7

Professor Bantu Morolong 7/7

*Ms Tendani Nkolo 3/4

* Dr Joseph Agolla 4/4

* Ms Julia Bahuma 2/2

* Dr Ishmael Magare 2/2

*Ms Tendani Nkolo was appointed in July 2022

* Dr Joseph Agolla was appointed in July 2022

*Ms Julia Bahuma’s term ended in June 
2022 

*Dr Ishmael Magare’s term ended in June 2022

COMMITTEES OF COUNCIL

Council has constituted nine (9) Committees. 
The Committees were established in terms of 
Section 18(1) of the Act. All Committees have 
their mandates clearly set out in the Statutes 
and Committee Charters. They comprise Council 
members and experts appointed externally. The 
Committees meet on scheduled dates before 
every ordinary Council meeting while others 
are ad-hoc and sit as and when required. The 
established Committees of Council are as follows:

◊	 Council Executive Committee
◊	 Council Human Resources Committee
◊	 Council Finance Committee
◊	 Council Planning and Resources Committee
◊	 Council Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
◊	 Senior Staff Appointments Promotions and 

Review Committee (ad hoc)
◊	 Staff Appeals Committee (ad hoc)
◊	 Joint Committee of Council and Senate 

(ad-hoc)
◊	 Review Committee of Council and Senate 

(ad-hoc)

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE  

Role of the Committee

The Council Human Resources Committee has 
been constituted with the mandate to ensure that 
Council meets its obligations pertaining to the 
Human Resources Strategy and Policies, Terms 
and Conditions of Service, Recruitment, Industrial 
Relations, Staff Development and Performance 
Management. 

Composition 

The Committee comprises the following:

•	 Three External Members of Council 
nominated by Council based on 
appropriateness of their skills, competencies, 
and experience, and at least one of whom has 
recognised professional Human Resources 
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Qualifications and experience. One of the 
members is appointed by Council as the 
Chairperson of the Committee;

•	 One non-Council Member (not a current 
University staff member) who is a reputable 
practising professional HR expert nominated 
by the Council Chairperson and approved by 
Council;

•	 Vice Chancellor; and
•	 Deputy Vice Chancellor - Corporate Services

Membership and Attendance

Member Attendance
Ms Festina S. Bakwena 
(Chairperson)

5/5

Ms Onalenna Sechele 2/5

Mr Godfrey Molefe 5/5

Dr Daniel Tau 5/5

Ms Masego Mookodi 5/5

Ms Lesedi Lesetedi 5/5

The Committee had three Ordinary Meetings and 
two Special Meetings during the period under 
reporting.

Key Areas of Focus

The Committee was seized with oversight of the 
Transformation Program following the completion 
of the Due Diligence and Organisational Redesign 
study. The implementation of the Plan has not 
been successful due to the tight financial situation 
of the institution. However, the Committee 
continued with planning so that when funds were 
available, implementation would commence.

Based on the dire financial situation of the 
University, the Committee made strategic 
decisions to aid the University in managing the 
financial situation and the deficit for the year. 
The following measures were instituted as a 
last resort, with caution as they touched on staff 
welfare issues, to assist in managing the deficit. 
These measures were approved by Council.

• Suspension of filling of positions until the 
financial situation improves;

• Suspension of leave encashment;

• Suspension of Performance Management 
Reward – Concerned Stakeholders were 
engaged regarding the dire financial situation 
of the University;

• Gratuity Provision – Suspension of voluntary 
encashment of gratuity;

• Suspension of staff conversion from 
pensionable to contract employment.

The Committee approved the revised 
Recruitment and Selection Policy, the revised 
Staff Development Policy, and the revised 
Safety, Health, and Environment Policy. Also 
planned for the year were the development of a 
talent Management Strategy and the review of 
the Performance Management System. These 
two could not be executed because of the lack 
of finances. The original plan was to have the 
instruments developed by external expertise. 
However, the Committee has re-strategised and 
has decided that the instruments be developed 
internally.

The Committee was involved in the development 
of the Vice Chancellor’s Performance Contract 
for the year by providing quality assurance before 
signing with the Chairperson of Council.

Future Areas of Focus 

Because of the lack of improvement in the 
financial situation of BOU, priority will be given to 
the rationalisation of the organisational structure 
to a more sustainable one. There will be a review 
of the Conditions of Service, review of the PMS 
Policy as well as the development of the Talent 
Management Strategy.

Execution of Mandate

The Committee is of the view that it has been 
able to execute its mandate for the year under 
reporting.
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FINANCE COMMITTEE

The Role of the Committee
 
The primary role of the Committee is to ensure that 
the University’s financial business is conducted 
efficiently, effectively, and in a manner that is 
consistent with international financial practices 
and standards. It is responsible for reviewing 
policies pertaining to financial management and 
reporting standards; determining tuition and other 
fees on an annual basis. Budgeting and preparation 
of the Financial Statements; and advising Council 
on matters of significant financial repercussions 
to the University. 

Composition

The Committee is composed of the following:

•	 Three external Members of Council appointed 
by the Council based on the appropriateness 
of their skills, competencies and experience, 
and at least one of whom has recognised 
professional financial and/or commercial 
qualifications and experience. One of the 
members shall be appointed by Council as the 
Chairperson of the Committee;

•	 One non-Council Member (not a current 
University staff Member) who is a reputable 
practising professional Financial and/
or Commercial Expert nominated by the 
Chairperson of Council and approved by 
Council;

•	 Vice Chancellor and
•	 Deputy Vice Chancellor - Corporate Services.

Membership and Attendance

Member Attendance
Mr Godfrey Molefe (Chairperson) 4/4

Dr Daniel Tau 4/4

Mr Oupa Masesane 2/4

Ms Tsoseletso Magang 3/4

Ms Lesedi Lesetedi 4/4

Mr Ralph Maganu 4/4

There was a full complement in the year under 
review. The Committee had three ordinary, and 
one special meeting during the period under 
reporting.

Key Areas of Focus

This was a challenging fiscal year for the University. 
The Ministry had effected a 5% or P6,2 million cut 
on the subvention. This translated to a subvention 
of P117,73 million. Over a three-year period, the 
subvention has been reduced by 15,4%, or P18,1 
million. Over a four-year period from 2019/20 to 
date, the subvention has been reduced by 35%. 
The Committee closely monitored the financial 
performance and status of the institution to 
ensure sustainability. 

The Committee provided oversight over the 
management of the finances and received 
Management Accounts periodically. Its oversight 
role in the development of the University’s Budget 
and review thereof assisted to monitor the 
University’s financial situation. The Committee 
approved a 10% tuition fee increment to boost 
the second stream income. 

In the previous year, measures were put in 
place to manage the dire financial situation and 
implementation commenced during the year 
under reporting: 

•	 Implementation of the Cost Containment 
Strategy which aids the containment of costs 
across the University commenced. 

•	 The Asset Utilisation Plan was developed and 
approved. Implementation of this plan was 
also commenced. 

•	 The implementation of the Business 
Development Strategy whose aim is to 
diversify revenue streams and optimise 
financial resources continued. The percentage 
of third-stream income contribution to budget 
for 2022/23 is 1.9%. Optimum implementation 
was affected by a number of challenges 
including among others low uptake of short 
courses, loss of bids and the need to renovate 
facilities. These challenges will be addressed 
to improve the third-stream income.
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Future Areas of Focus

Implementation of the Cost Containment 
Plan, Asset Utilisation Plan and the Business 
Development Strategy will continue. The 
Committee will continue to monitor closely, the 
financial status of the University through the 
review of the Management Accounts, provide 
oversight over the development and careful 
implementation of the Budget. Tuition fees will 
also be reviewed. An Asset Disposal Policy will 
be developed. 

Execution of Mandate

Notwithstanding the difficult fiscal year, the 
Committee is of the view that it has been 
able to execute its mandate. The University 
exercised frugal spending and suspended capital 
expenditure and some key University operations. 
The Committee has thus been able to ensure the 
University’s sustenance amidst these challenges. 

PLANNING AND RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE

Role of the Committee

The purpose of the Council Planning and 
Resources Committee is to advise Council on 
major strategic issues pertaining to higher-
level physical infrastructure planning, including 
construction, maintenance, and security of 
physical infrastructure, disaster management, and 
acquisition of major assets. It is also responsible 
for the University’s Strategic Planning and 
implementation thereof.

Composition

The Committee is composed of the following:

•	 Three External Members of Council appointed 
by Council based on appropriateness of their 
skills, competencies and experience and one 
of whom shall be appointed by Council as the 
Chairperson of the Committee;

•	 Vice Chancellor; 
•	 Deputy Vice Chancellors; and

•	 At least one non-Council Member (not a 
current University staff member) who is 
a reputable practising professional with 
expertise in Master Planning and/or Capital 
Asset Management or Property Development 
nominated by the Council Chairperson and 
approved by Council.

Membership and Attendance

Member Attendance
Ms Tsoseletso Magang 
(Chairperson)

3/4

Dr Daniel Tau 4/4
Prof Kgomotso Moahi 3/4
Ms Lesedi Lesetedi 4/4
Dr Godson Gatsha 4/4
Mr Peter Moalafi 4/4
Mr Kgopotso Ramoroka 2/4
Ms Onalenna Sechele 0/4

The Committee had three ordinary Meetings 
and one Special Meeting during the period 
under reporting. 

Key Areas of Focus

The Committee provided oversight over the 
implementation of the University’s Strategic Plan. 
An Annual Plan for 2022-23 and the accompanying 
Initiatives Implementation Plan was put in place. 
Performance was monitored through periodic 
reporting on strategic objectives and initiatives set 
in terms of the Annual Plan. A Mid-year review on 
the Implementation of the University’s Strategic 
initiatives was conducted.  Through the Annual 
Performance Report, the Committee was able to 
track and monitor performance in relation to the 
achievement of initiatives relative to targets set in 
the Strategic Plan and provide direction. 

A major strategic activity the Committee 
undertook was the commencement of the 
development of the Strategic Plan for 2023-
2028. The process was preceded and informed 
by a Situation Analysis Report which reflected on 
the performance of the 2019-23 Strategic Plan, 
Stakeholder Engagement as well as External 
Analysis. 
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It is through this Committee that the University’s 
physical infrastructure and the inventory of 
the physical assets have been managed. The 
University has approached the parent Ministry 
for transfer of ownership of facilities allocated for 
use. These include the Maun, Francistown, and 
Gaborone Regional Campus Plots.  

Consolidation and conversion of BOU Palapye 
residential plots to commercial use has been 
granted. The application for a title deed for a plot 
in Maun has been submitted to the Tawana Land 
Board.

In an endeavour to enhance infrastructure 
development and management, the Physical 
Infrastructure Policy and the Records  
Management Policy were reviewed. A Disaster 
Management Policy was developed. 

Future Areas of Focus

Areas of priority for the next financial year include:

•	 Finalisation and approval of the Strategic Plan 
for 2023-2028 and implementation thereof;

•	 Finalisation of the Transport Policy;

•	 Mid-year review of the Implementation of the 
Strategic Initiatives;

•	 Application for Transfer of Ownership of Land;

•	 Application for a Title Deed for the 1 Hectare 
plot at Maun;

•	 Application for a consolidated Title Deed for 
the Palapye Plots. 

Execution of Mandate

The Committee is of the view that it has been 
able to execute its mandate for the year under 
reporting.

AUDIT, RISK AND COMPLIANCE 
COMMITTEE

The Role of the Committee

The main purpose of the Council Audit, Risk 
and Compliance Committee is to oversee 
the University’s Audit and Risk Management 
activities. This includes ensuring that the 
University is compliant with relevant legislation, 
policies, codes, and standards. It is responsible for 
reviewing and recommending to Council, policies 
pertaining to risk management, compliance 
management, fraud and corruption detection 
and prevention; assisting Council in carrying out 
its IT governance responsibilities and ensuring 
IT risks are adequately assessed and addressed; 
reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of 
internal controls, information systems, human 
resources practices, accounting standards and 
practices, financial accounting practices and 
auditing processes used throughout the University; 
recommending to Council appointment and 
termination of External Auditors and overseeing 
the external audit process; approving the Audited 
Annual Financial Statements; recommending 
the appointment and/or dismissal of the Internal 
Auditor and monitoring performance.

Composition

The Committee is composed of the following:

•	 Four External Council Members appointed 
by Council based on appropriateness of their 
skills, competencies, and experience. One of 
the members shall be appointed by Council as 
the Chairperson of the Committee.

One  non-Council member (not current University 
staff member) who is a reputable practising 
professional Financial and/or Risk Management 
Expert nominated by the Council Chairperson and 
approved by Council.
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Membership and Attendance

Member Attendance
Ms Kgopotso Ramoroka  
(Chairperson)

3/3

Mr Godfrey Molefe 3/3

Ms Nature Mogotsi 3/3

Mr Uyapo Ndadi 2/3

The Committee had two Ordinary Meetings and 
one Special Meeting during the period under 
reporting.

Key Areas of Focus

•	 The Committee monitored the performance of 
the Internal Auditor. The Internal Auditor was 
granted a new contract of employment by 
Council on recommendation of the Committee 
during the year. An Internal Audit Plan was 
approved.

•	 Oversight and direction over risk management 
was provided. The Key risks prioritised for the 
year were monitored and the internal controls 
were implemented. The Committee monitored 
the University’s risk profile to ensure risk 
incidents do not materialise into major risks. 
The Internal Auditor provided assurance that 
the risk management process was adequate. 

In terms of the monitoring of the University’s 
compliance and regulatory requirements, the 
Committee received updates on new legislation 
to ensure compliance. A Compliance Policy which 
sets how compliance is approached and managed 
was developed and approved by Council.

The Committee approved the Audited 
Annual Financial Statements. Oversight was 

provided over the external audit process. The 
Committee monitored implementation of the 
recommendations made on issues identified to 
ensure they were closed. 

The Committee provided direction over the 
development and/or review of the following 
governance protocols:

•	 Review of the Internal Audit Charter
•	 Review of the Conflict of Interest Policy
•	 Review of the Council Code of Conduct
•	 Review of the Risk Management Framework
•	 Development of the University’s Compliance 

Policy

Future Areas of Focus

The Committee will continue to provide oversight 
on risk management and advise Council 
accordingly; monitor compliance with legislation, 
provide oversight over the Internal Audit function 
and External Audit. It will consider the Audited 
Annual Financial Statements, approve the Internal 
Audit Plan, and monitor performance on the same. 

To enhance compliance and performance, the 
Committee will review the Council Committee 
Charters, provide direction over the development 
of the University’s ICT Governance Framework, 
and monitor the Corrective Action Plan to ensure 
external audit findings are properly addressed and 
closed.  

Execution of Mandate

The Committee is of the view that it has been 
able to execute its mandate for the year under 
reporting.

Council Sitting Allowance Rates

*Council has been rated as Category B
*The rates indicated  are before withholding tax of 10%
*The rates are prescribed by the Minister of Finance

Sitting Allowance Rate Per Meeting
Chairperson P1687.14

Vice-Chairperson P1349.71

Member P1349.71

Co-opted Committee Experts P1349.71

Transport (out of Gaborone residents) 2.75/km



BOU Integrated Annual Report 2022-23

26

23

Botswana Open University2019
20

Integrated Annual
Report

staff and alumni. This Framework will enable 
the University to create an intellectually stim-
ulating and rewarding learning and teaching 
environment. 

Student and Stakeholder Engage-
ment

In its pursuit of life-long learning, BOU will 
provide innovative programmes and services 
attractive to its prospective students, alumni 
and the public. BOU will collaborate with com-
munities for addressing the country’s socio-
economic needs. Such collaborations are an 
integral part of BOU’s mission and provide 
opportunities for research and innovation, stu-
dent attachments, study visits, and internships.
 

Research, Innovation and Sustainable 
Development

Research	and	innovation	will	focus	on	defined	
thematic areas including indigenous knowl-
edge systems, sustainable development and 
technology-enabled learning.  A culture of re-
search for both students and staff will be pro-
moted. Inter-disciplinary research and close 
connection with communities and partners for 
collaborative research will be encouraged.

Open Education, Entrepreneurship 
and Employability

BOU subscribes to open education through 
the global open educational resources (OERs) 
agenda as articulated in the 2012 OER Paris 
Declaration. It also values students’ utilisation 
of multi-platforms. BOU endeavors to provide 
an enabling learning and teaching environment 
supported by a robust ICT infrastructure. 

Governance and Leadership

A culture of good governance and leadership 
will permeate the entire institution, contribut-
ing to sound policy formulation, robust stra-
tegic planning, change management, quality 
assurance, partnerships, and reviews. It entails 
upholding the rule of law, ensuring effective 
oversight on issues of strategic importance, 
policy implementation, collegiality, account-
ability, transparency and effective commu-
nication across the university. It also entails 
prudence in the mobilisation and allocation of 
resources, including the attraction, develop-
ment and retention of high calibre human re-
sources. 

Transferring.new.knowledge,.Modern.methods,.modern.
Infrastructure,.Cutting.Edge.Technology.

A	GLOBALLY	RECOGNISED	OPEN	UNIVERSITY	

Workforce quality, Management quality, Continuous Improvement, 
Long-term orientation, Action Orientation 

A	HIGH	PERFORMANCE	OPEN	UNIVERSITY	

	

2019	-	2023	

2023	-	2028	
Accessibility, Diversity, Collaboration, Research Excellence, 

Wide Programme Offer 

AN	INCLUSIVE	OPEN	UNIVERSITY	

2028	-	2033	

2033	-	2036	

De-centralised systems, Efficiency in service delivery, Innovative 
Solutions, Focus on student experience, Academic excellence 

A	TECHNOLOGY	ENHANCED	OPEN	UNIVERSITY	

BOU 4-STEP PASSAGE TO 2036

OUR INSTITUTIONAL INTENT 
AND STRATEGY

BOU’s Strategic Foundations
Following the successful transition of Bot-
swana College of Distance and Open Learning 
(BOCODOL) to Botswana Open University 
(BOU) in July 2017, BOU sought to operation-
alise its mandate by developing a long term 
strategy to project its long term planning which 
defines	its	growth	pathway	to	2036.	BOU	aims	
to be a globally recognised Open University by 
2036; that is, a University that generates and 
transfers knowledge through the most effec-
tive	and	efficient	methods	and	 infrastructure.	
To achieve this desire, the University is cur-
rently implementing a 4-year Strategic Plan 
that is geared towards setting up technol-
ogy systems that would widen access to its 
programmes and improve the delivery of the 
same. The incremental enrolment projections 
made for the 17-year period presume a total 
enrolment of 25000 by the year 2036 from a 
baseline of 4000 in 2019. This section of the 
report shows the performance f the institution 
in	2019/20	which	represents	the	first	year	of	
implementing the 2019-2023 Strategic Plan 
under the purview of the BOU 2036 Strategic 

Framework.

BOU 2036 STRATEGIC FRAME-
WORK – TOWARDS GLOBAL 
RECOGNITION

Our Broad Thematic Areas

To achieve the BOU Mission and Vision the 
University	 focuses	 on	 five	 core	 themes	 that	
will guide our path to 2036:

Learning & Teaching – the BOU 
Experience

BOU commits to providing a distinct learning 
and teaching experience to all its students,

STRATEGY AND SCORECARD

Our Strategic Foundations

BOU 2036 Strategic Framework - “Towards Global Recognition”

Broad Thematic Areas - To achieve the BOU Mission and Vision the University focuses on five 
core themes that guide our path to 2036 namely:

•	 Learning & Teaching – the BOU Experience;

•	 Student and Stakeholder Engagement; 

•	 Research, Innovation and Sustainable Development;

•	 Open Education, Entrepreneurship and Employability and

•	 Governance and Leadership.

BOU 4-Step Passage to 2036

The graphic below depicts the stages to be taken by BOU towards reaching the 2036 vision of being a 
Globally Recognised Open University. These stages are broken down into a series of strategic plans, the 
first being the 2019-2023 plan. It is the performance of this plan that is covered in this report.

OUR PERFORMANCE
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BOU 2019-2023 Strategic Plan

Purpose and Direction – The BOU 2019-2023 
Strategic Plan defines the University’s 4-year 
Vision, Mission, and Strategic Intent to guide the 
foundational tenets of the journey to 2036. 

Vision Statement -To inspire excellence and 
present lifelong learning opportunities globally.

Mission Statement - To provide quality education, 
research, and community engagement through 
open and distance learning solutions.

Strategic Intent - By 2023 BOU will be an 
innovative open university recognised for its 
technology-enhanced programmes, relevant 
research, and societal impact.

The Strategic Sub-Themes 

•	 Academic Excellence

•	 Superior Student Experience

•	 Strong Collaboration and Partnerships

•	 Strong Institutional Capability and Operational 
Excellence

The 2022-23 Performance 

The Botswana Open University uses the 
Balanced Scorecard (BSC) model as the guiding 
tool for planning, implementing, and tracking 
performance on the strategic plan. The model 
revolves around four perspectives of planning; 
a) the Stakeholders perspective; b) the Internal 
Processes perspective; c) the Learning and  
Growth perspective; and d) the Financial 
perspective. Below is a summary of the 
performance of the year under review:

Student/Stakeholder

The year 2022-23 marks the fourth and final year 
for evaluating progress with regards to students 
and stakeholders’ response to BOU programmes 
and services. The outbreak of COVID-19 at the 
turn of the year 2020 remains a hallmark for 
accelerating the implementation of the BOU’s 
strategic intent on technology enhancement. 
While the University realised an abrupt increase 

in students’ enrolment at tertiary level in the year 
2020/21, the subsequent two years registered 
a slight decline. A tracer survey was done to 
appreciate the reasons for low registration, 
and it was observed that most candidates who 
could not register were hard-hit by the effects of 
COVID-19 financially. Nonetheless, for the year 
under review, a total of 6341 students enrolled 
for tertiary level programmes out of which 2879 
were new students.  A throughput of 2071 was 
achieved for the year. While the throughput is 
significantly lower than that of the previous year, 
it represents 96% of the target as set out in the 
strategic plan. Going forward, the University 
intends to step up its recruitment drive to increase 
enrolments.

Owing to the severe budget cuts, a decision was 
made to drastically reduce the Open Schooling 
enrolment targets from 10 000 to 3 000. The 
decision emanated from the fact that the Open 
Schooling programmes were offered free of 
charge while activities such as the engagement 
of Tutors, and the administration of examinations 
were costly. Of the 3 000 that were targeted, 
2806 enrolled for the year under review. 
Continued engagements are going on between 
the University and the Ministry of Education and 
Skills Development to find sustainable ways of 
funding the activities of Open Schooling.

Internal Processes

For the year under review, the University 
maintained its decision to have all sessional 
tertiary level teaching and assessments done 
online. However, several challenges were 
experienced with implications on the integrity 
of online assessments. Efforts are underway 
to review the model of assessments in a bid to 
come up with more viable measures of managing 
both formative and summative assessments.

A decision was made at the beginning of the 
planning year that, due to budgetary constraints, 
no infrastructural developments would be 
done until the financial situation improved. The 
University prioritised non-financial initiatives and 
projects to drive internal processes to achieve the 
set targets. For example, meetings, graduations 
and other engagements were mostly held virtually 
to cut down the costs.   
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Regarding the University’s quest for increased 
programme menu, only one programme was 
added to the set of choices – Bachelor of 
Technology (Information Systems). The regulatory 
body continues to lag in terms of progressing 
proposals for accrediting new programmes. 
The University looks forward to diversifying the 
programme menu to address industry needs, 
ensure increased enrolments and generate 
second stream revenue. 

Ever since the relaxation of the COVID-19 
restrictions, academic staff was able to organise 
and participate in several research activities. 
The research output for the year has improved 
significantly. Virtual research workshops and 
colloquia have been held in a bid to build 
research capacity as well as create a platform for 
researchers to share knowledge and experiences. 

Other major initiatives of the University’s 
transformation programme such as process 
reengineering and systems review were taken 
on board albeit at a slow pace due to budgetary 
constraints.

People and Learning
The University experienced a major shake-up with 
respect to staffing, where seven (7) Directors 
were not granted new contracts precipitated by 
the dire financial situation. This led to a series 
of acting appointments for the resultant vacant 
positions in the hope that the financial situation 
would improve. The staff attrition rate has also 
increased - with three (3) officers resigning in the 
same year. 

Finance
The  3rd stream revenue collected for the year under 
review (1.9%) is far less than the target (4%). The 
University continues to explore alternative ways 
of making money to augment the subvention that 
comes from Government. Moreover, it seeks to 
exercise cutting edge stewardship through strict 
adherence to both the Cost Containment and 
Asset Utilisation Plans that are currently under 
implementation. The Business Development 
Strategy and Plan are also key.  

Image by Freepik
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CORPORATE SCORECARD DASHBOARD 2022/2023

Strategic Objective Performance Measure
2021/22
Baseline

2022/23
Targets

2022/23
Achieved

Performance 
Status

STUDENT/STAKEHOLDER

Increase Student Enrolment, 
Success and Employment

C1.1 Enrolment (TER) 6481 7420 6341 85%

C1.1 Enrolment (OS) 12105 3000 2806 94%
C1.2 Completion(TER) 2964 2150 2070 96%

C1.2 Completion (OS) 12529 3000 3078 103%
C1.3 BGCSE Pass Rate 95% 95% 94% 99%

C1.4 JC Pass Rate 77% 90% 70% 77%

C1.5 Employment Rates 80% 90% 80% 80%

Increase and Maintain Value 
Adding Partnerships

C2.1 No. of strategic partners on-boarded 4 4 4 100%

C2.2 Value addition analysis Reviewed

Increase Student and 
Stakeholder Satisfaction

C3.1 Stakeholder satisfaction score 79% 80% 81% 101%
C3.2 % Student satisfied 73.6% 75% 70% 93%

OVERALL PERFORMANCE (Student/Stakeholder) 93%

INTERNAL PROCESSES

Strengthen Infrastructure and 
Facilities

P1.1 Completion of Master Plan - - - -

P1.2  % Implementation of Planned Projects - 95% - -

Diversify Academic 
Programmes

P2.1 No. of BQA Accredited TER 
Programmes

20 25 20 80%

P2.2 No. of CPD Programmes 12 10 14 140%

Enhance Marketing and 
Branding

P3.1Brand Perception Index 80% 85% 80% 94%

Institute Strategic use of 
Technology

P4.1 % Level of Automation - 90% 30% 33%

P4.2 % Online Programmes 100% 90% 100% 111%
Enhance Corporate 
Governance

P5.1 Governance Score 64% 95% 64% 71%

Enhance Research Capability P6.1 No. of Research Outputs 19 40 34 85%

              OVERALL PERFORMANCE (Internal Processes) 88%

PEOPLE & LEARNING

Cultivate a High Performance 
and Innovative Culture

Employee Engagement Score 90%

PMS Score 111 112 111 103%

Strengthen Management and 
Leadership Capabilities

Competency Score 110 112 110 102%

Attract, Develop and Retain 
High Calibre Leadership 

Workforce Quality (% Academic Staff with 
PhDs)

47% 50% 46% 92%

Vacancy Rate (Academics) 15% 10% 8% 92%

OVERALL PERFORMANCE (People & Learning) 97%

FINANCE

Diversify Funding Sources
No. of funding Sources 6 6 6 100%
% Contribution of 3rd Stream Income to 
Budget

1.3% 4% 1.9% 30%

Optimise Financial Resources % Variance on Budget Expenditure 1.67% 10% 2% 98%

OVERALL PERFORMANCE (Finance) 82%

Gold: 105% and above 
(Achievement above 
target)

Green: 105 - 85 % 
(Achievement on 
target)

Amber: 84 - 65% 
(Target not achieved but in 
progress)

Red: Below 65% 
(Target not met)

Blue: Not 
Implemented/Not 
measured

Key
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ACADEMIC OVERVIEW
During the year, the Division of Academic Services had a total of seventy-seven staff members, 
comprising thirty-three academic staff and forty-four support staff. Of this figure, fourty (52%) were 
female while thirty-seven (48%) were male. Three new Lecturers joined the Institution during the year, 
in Special and Inclusive Education, the Department of Educational Management and Leadership and the 
Department of Community Development, Psychosocial and Behavioral Sciences.

BOU offers a total of twenty Tertiary Programmes and nineteen Open Schooling Programmes. 

Accreditation

The accreditation drive which was aggressively pursued during the financial period has led to an increase 
in the number of programmes accredited by the Botswana Qualifications Authority for the University.  
Table 1 highlights these developments. 

Table 1: Programme accreditation trends at BOU in 2022-2023

Programmes Numbers
Number of programmes currently accredited 12

Number of programmes awaiting accreditation 12

Number of programmes awaiting qualification registration 5

Graduates Per School 

The University continues to run its academic programmes and graduate students at the Certificate, 
Degree, and Postgraduate levels. Table 2 provides a summary of graduates per school within the period. 

Table 2: 2022-2023 Graduation Report per School 

Schools Levels Graduates Total
School of Business and Management Studies (SoBMS Certificate 51

Diploma 340

Degree 263

Postgraduate 46 700

School of Education (SoE) Certificate 57

Diploma 967

Degree 171

Postgraduate 127 1322

School of Social Sciences (SoSS) Certificate 37

Diploma 0

Degree 0

Postgraduate 12 49
Total 2071 2071
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Employability Enhancement 

Towards the enhancement of the University 
programmes with employability and related 
skills, an Employability Strategy was developed 
and taken through the structures, including 
the Academic Policy Programmes and Quality 
Assurance Committee (APPQAC), BOU Senior 
Management Team, the Executive Management 
Team, and Council of the University. The plan is to 
launch the strategy in the new financial year.

Senate

As the principal academic governance body of 
the University, Senate successfully carried out 
its mandate for ‘‘policy making, decision-making, 
quality assurance and implementation oversight 
of all academic matters relating to and affecting 
programme development and delivery, admission 
standards, teaching and learning, assessment, 
research and innovation, and advice to Council 
on all academic matters”. In the process, it 
oversaw the key University activities of Teaching 
and Learning, Research and Innovation and 
Community Engagement.  

The following were the key deliverables during 
the period:

•	 Oversight on BOU Qualifications Registration 
and Learning Programme Accreditation: 

•	 Approval of a new mandate for the Centre for 
Graduate Studies,  changing the name to the 
School of Graduate Studies and the position 
of head of the department from Director to 
a Dean. This was part of the incremental 
implementation of the Transformation 
Programme and to help the University 
diversify more into graduate programmes, 
including PhD programmes. 

•	 Launch of the Colloquium series was approved 
by Senate.

•	 Approval of the establishment of two 
important committees, the School Academic 
Quality Assurance Committee (SAQAC)  and 
the Botswana Open University Institutional 
Quality Team (BIQT). The two entities are 
meant to enhance both Academic quality 
and broad institutional quality at BOU. These 
committees will work closely with existing 

Quality structures.
•	 To ensure systematic supervision and 

management of student’s research, the 
following research guidelines and policy 
documents were developed and approved by 
Senate for implementation. They include: 
-  Graduate Research External Examiners 

Policy
-  Graduate Research Supervision Policy
-  Guidelines and Procedures for Graduate 

Research Supervision
-  Provisional Guidelines for Research Project 

Budget Preparation.
•	 Senate approved a recommendation by the 

School of Education to change the current 
Certificate in Vocational Education and Training 
(CVET) programme structure from one to 
two semesters in line with the Programme 
Development and Review Guidelines. The 
single semester had posed some challenges 
in that students could not complete their 
programme within the period. The two-
semester structure is in alignment with 
the CVET Learning Programme submitted 
by BOU for accreditation to the Botswana 
Qualifications Authority (BQA). 

•	 Approval of the Academic Programmes 
Development and Review Policy as part of 
the review exercise following the lapse of the 
policy’s life span. The revised policy was a 
result of extensive consultations with relevant 
stakeholders.

•	 Approval of the Community Engagement 
Strategy as part of initiatives of the 2022-
23 Strategic Plan. This was to guide the 
University’s community engagement drive 
to ensure that the University is relevant to 
the needs of the community. It is also based 
on the University’s mission of supporting 
strategic collaborations and partnerships.

•	 Approval of the Academic Staff Attraction 
and Retention Strategy and Implementation 
Plan as part of the transformation plan, and  
the  development of the Academic Staff 
Mentoring Policy.

•	 The following were also approved by Senate: 

-  Review of the Job Descriptions of 
Academic Ranks and of Deans and Heads 
of Department (HoDs). 
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-  Review of the Performance Management 
template  for academic staff. 

-  Review of the Policy, Procedures, and 
Criteria for the Promotion and Appointment 
of Academic Staff

-  Review of the Training and Staff 
Development Policies in Relation to 
Academic Staff.  

Teaching and Learning

Teaching and learning is the core business of the 
Schools and Departments, with the Deans, Heads 
of Department and the Coordinators providing 
leadership to the Tutors who also use the regional 
campus support to perform their duties. The 
University relies on Academic Staff whose work 
is supplemented by Part-Time Staff who come 
in as Tutors, External Moderators, External 
Examiners, and Supervisors. The Part-Time Staff 
carry out teaching and tutorial functions, materials 
development functions and student supervision.

The Centre for Technology-Enhanced Learning 
and Teaching (CTELT) is mandated to integrate 
technology in the teaching and learning function 
and manage the Moodle platform. The BOU 2036 
Strategic Framework anchors BOU’s institutional 
intent on the adoption of technology in teaching 
and learning. 

Guided by the STELTASS and the E-Tutor Policy, 
in its pursuit of digital transformation, and using 
the Learning Analytics Policy, the CTELT provided 
leadership and support to different arms of the 
University as follows: 

• Facilitated online delivery of academic 
programmes on the Moodle LMS as well as 
student assessment;

• Provided support to staff and students through 
induction, training and one on one sessions; 
and

• Facilitated virtual meetings, workshops, 
colloquia and graduation.
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RESEARCH SUPPORT AND OUTPUT
Research is driven by the Office of Research and Innovation. Its role is to advance the university strategic 
initiatives in research and innovation, and the provision of infrastructure support for knowledge generation, 
entrepreneurship, and commercialisation. The office recently took over the function of Partnership 
and Internationalisation and is responsible for developing and maintaining business and partnership 
relations with key stakeholders, locally and internationally. The office has enhanced research capability 
by developing researchers, promoting research ethics and integrity, and supporting grant applications. 
It has also increased partnership accountability by overhauling the registering of the Memorandum 
of Understanding and Memorandum of Agreement, as well as the licensing of programmes and the 
membership of societies and associations. 

The achievements worthy of mention include the following:

• Research capacity development workshops held covering grant proposal writing, paper writing, 
research planning, project management and research ethics and integrity;

• Launch of BOU Seminar Series and a University Colloquium Series;

• Facilitated the submission of grant funding applications; and

• Continued efforts to improve the process for ethical clearance and research.

Research Outputs

The University recorded thirty-four research outputs from different Schools. The output includes thirteen 
Journal Articles, eleven Book Chapters, seven Conference Proceedings and three other units.

 
Partnerships

All in all, the University enjoys partnership and collaboration with eight entities and universities. The 
partnerships are meant to add value by providing synergies to extend the delivery of programmes, 
research and innovation, and service of the University. 

Image by Freepik
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THE SADC-CDE
The SADC-CDE continues its mandate of academic and professional development of citizens of the 
SADC member states. Many of its activities were funded  by the Commonwealth of Learning (COL). 

Major activities and achievements include: 

• Resuscitation of the Centre’s Advisory Board following COVID-19 disruptions,

• Continuation of the Conversation Seminar Series which provides Open Distance e-Learning (ODeL) 
practitioners from across the globe an opportunity to share ideas on good practices, and collaborate 
with one another where necessary,

• Organised a three-day workshop on ODeL. The aim was to ground ODeL practitioners, and all those 
in the ODeL environment on the importance of doing research in their own space, 

• Continued support of SADC-CDE ODL practitioners to enrol for the Certificate in Distance 
Education (CDE). Fifteen students were sponsored in the year under review,

• The Centre was involved with the preparations for the 2022 Distance Education Association of 
Southern Africa (DEASA) Conference. The Conference, which was held in Windhoek, Namibia from 
4th to 6th November 2022, was a resounding success,

• Attendance of a COL Focal Point Meeting on the 20th and 21st February 2023; Twenty-one Regional 
Focal Points from twenty Commonwealth Member States gathered in Seychelles for a meeting 
convened by COL.  
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LIBRARY AND INFORMATION SERVICES (LIS)

The LIS continues to support both students and staff of BOU in various ways:

•	 Providing Automated Lending and Circulation of Library Materials (PRIMO AND ALMA). The 
system gives access to all the databases BOU subscribes to, LibGuides and Google Books. The 
Library has witnessed increased usage of resources. 

•	 Development of LibGuides - LibGuides provide helpful curated information required for a course or 
a module. LibGuides were created for each school including Open Schooling.

•	 Library Instructions and E-Resources Training - BOU Library boasts  extensive training of students 
in the use of available resources to enable them to have a good experience while at BOU. 

•	 Collaborations – The year 2022-23 has been an exciting and busy year for the Library. Through 
Botswana Library Consortium (BLC), the Library participated in organising Open Science Symposium 
working with a number of partners internally, nationally, regional and at international level. These 
resulted in the LIS Director’s appointment to two working groups assigned to develop Open Science 
Policy and Open Data Policy- both policies have been completed and presented to the Ministry  of 
Knowledge Communication and Technology (MKCT).
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THE COLLEGE OF OPEN SCHOOLING
The College of Open Schooling (COS) is an arm of the University responsible for the design, development, 
and delivery of the Junior Certificate (JC) and Botswana General Certificate of Secondary Education 
(BGCSE) programmes. The mandate of the College is to increase access to quality open schooling 
programmes using Open and Distance Learning (ODL) methodologies. 

Botswana continues to face challenges of low transition rates from JC to BGCSE as well as from BGCSE 
to tertiary. The transition stands at around 60% from JC to BGCSE and less than 50% from BGCSE to 
tertiary. More than 95% of the College’s target population consists mostly of youth and out of school 
children who enroll with BOU to upgrade their JC or BGCSE results. It is also worth noting that there is 
relatively a very small percentage of adults who take up Open Schooling (OS) programmes. 
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Programmes 

The College currently offers ten JC and nine BGCSE subjects as shown in Table 3 below: 

Table 3: Open Schooling Subjects

JC BGCSE

English English

Setswana Setswana

Science Science Double Award

Maths Maths

Social Studies History

Agriculture Geography

Moral Education Business Studies

Religious Education Commerce

Commerce and Office Procedures Accounting

Commerce and Accounting

Activities:

•	 The College is in the process of converting its 
subjects to online format and the conversion 
has started with JC. Currently all the study 
materials are in electronic format and 
accessible from the Public Repository in the 
BOU website.

•	 The College has embarked on a review of 
its learning materials to produce revision 
materials rather than the bulky booklets they 
were producing. 

Partnerships 

During this financial year 2022-23 the College of 
Open Schooling mainly capitalised on existing 
partnership with the Commonwealth of Learning 
(COL) to secure funding for the implementation 
of the strategic objective on instituting strategic 
use of technology. The following BOU/COL 
Partnership milestones were achieved: 

•	 The development of JC Subjects on Moodle 

•	 Piloting and evaluation of JC Business online 
subjects

•	 The development of the Open Schooling 
Technology Enabled Learning and Teaching 
Strategy  

•	 Development of one hundred and fifty (150) 
Audio lessons for JC Business subjects to 
help girls and marginalised groups in the Kang 
Region 

Apart from work done through Partnerships, the 
College experimented with the use of different 
technologies in supporting its Writers, Tutors, and 
Learners. The technologies used were  Whatsapp 
and Facebook for teaching and learning.  The 
experiments showed that the two social platforms 
have a high potential for supporting teaching and 
learning as they allow discussion forums, sharing 
of documents, tracking and more activities for 
learning.  

As online delivery continues and the economy 
improves, the College will be able to put up a 
more appropriate delivery strategy, which is 
more inclusive. It is also important that as the 
College continues experimenting with online 
delivery for OS, data is collected to inform future 
developments. Partnerships with different key 
players such as conventional schools, internet 
providers, the industry and involvement of parents 
are all needed to open access for students. 
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OUR IMPACT 
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
BOU has adopted a Stakeholder- inclusive approach and is committed to meeting the different needs 
of its Stakeholders. In the year under review, the following engagements were conducted as shown in 
the table below: 

Table 4. Stakeholder Engagement

Stakeholder Manner of Engagement Medium of Engagement
Students Student related matters; Academic 

Integrity
Website, e-mail, social media 
pages, SMS

Staff Key Announcements about the 
University and Employee related 
matters, 

E-mail, meetings, Address by VC

Regulatory Authorities – BQA, PPRA, 
Data Protection Commission

Compliance obligations; Accreditation Meetings

Council, Staff, Students, Tutors, Critical 
Friends of BOU

Development of the Strategic Plan for 
2023-2028

Focus groups, meetings

Government BOU Matters, Open Science, Open 
Data Policy

Meetings, emails

Service Providers Contracted services and contract Meetings

General Public; Local Authorities in 
Regional Campuses

About BOU;

Chancellor’s meet and greet

Program Offerings

Botswana Television, Radio 
Programmes, social media, 
website; Chancellor’s meet and 
greet at Regional Campuses.

Partners;

•	 Ministry of Education, and Skills 
Development (regarding Serowe 
College of Education)

•	 Petlo Literary Arts 

•	 South African Institute for Distance 
Education (SAIDE) 

•	 WAWASAN Open University 

•	 Huawei Technologies Botswana 
(Proprietary) Limited 

•	 REPSSI Programme in Community 
Based Psychology Support for 
Children and Youth 

•	 Open University of Mauritius for 
the  BEd (Hons)Early Childhood 
Education and Care programme, 
and BEd (Hons)Primary Education

•	 Commonwealth of Learning (COL)

Reviewed and Renewed Partnership 
Agreements

New Partnerships

Virtual platforms; in-person 
meetings, Seminars, Colloquia, 
conferences
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COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
•	 The Kang Regional Campus organised computer training in June 2022 for thirty-six Village Extension 

Team members in Kang village on the use of TEAMS & Google Meet for organising meetings. 
The training targeted the Heads of Department in Kang village to assist them in organising online 
meetings through the systems as an identified need for virtual meetings. 

•	 The Gaborone Regional Campus showed its support to the community by participating in the 5th 
International Day of Education whose theme was “to invest in people, prioritize education” by 
addressing the Old Naledi community on the value of education and available opportunities through 
Open and Distance Learning. The event was attended by the village traditional and political leadership.  

•	 The School of Business and Management Studies participated in Youth Development Fund 
applications evaluation and contributed to developing the National Productivity and Competitiveness 
Policy. 

•	 The School of Education brought in five primary schools in the Gaborone Sub-region as part of the 
Adopt a School initiatives. These are Therisanyo Primary School, Old Naledi Primary School, Masa 
Primary School, Tshwaragano Primary School, and Bontleng Primary School. 

•	 An interview was held with Westwood Primary School Students on “The Impact of Digitalisation on 
Doing Business and Making a Living in Botswana” in October 2022. 

•	 The School of Science and Technology developed a portfolio to upskill secondary schools around 
the country on ICT capabilities through its Computer and Information Studies Department. 

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)
The University continues to engage in activities 
that benefit communities. These activities include 
donations of various items to schools in Kang and 
Morwa; donations of school uniform to four needy 
children by the Palapye Regional Campus Staff. 
These activities attracted attention of community 
leadership such as the village Kgosi, District 
Commissioner, Office of the Area Member of 
Parliament, a Councillor and Village Development 
Committee Chairperson.

Two schools also participated in CSR. The School 
of Business and Management Studies donated 
clothes to children of inmates at Botswana Prisons 
and sponsored some individual to undertake studies 
at BOU.

The School of Education donated some 
examination revision books and photocopying 
paper to Ramogotsi Primary School in Morwa to 
help the school prepare their Standard 7 students 
for Primary School Leaving Examination (PSLE). 
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OUR PEOPLE
Any organisation thrives from the efforts of its people. The role of the Human Resources Department 
is to produce an environment conducive to enhance productivity. This section therefore presents 
information on staff issues, including staff development, turnover and staff wellness initiatives. 

Manpower

The University has three Divisions headed by the Office of the Vice Chancellor. The three Divisions are 
Corporate Services, Academic Services and Student Services. The total University Establishment as of 
March 31st, 2023, was two hundred and forty-four (244) full time positions. The table below categorises 
staff by division.

Table 5. Staff by Division

Division
University 

Establishment
Positions filled/ 

Head count
Vacant 

positions

Vice Chancellor`s Office 19 17 2

Corporate Services 48 45 3

Academic Services 82 75 7

Student Services 95 85 10

Total 244 222 22

Staff Turnover

At the end of March 2023, the University had twenty-two vacancies out of two hundred and forty-four 
approved positions, resulting in 9.01 % vacancy rate. Due to the financial challenges experienced by the 
University, Council passed a resolution to freeze recruitment of fulltime staff until the financial situation 
improves.  
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PhD Achievements

During the period two staff members successfully completed their PhD programs as follows:

•	 Dr Phineas Sebopelo, PhD in Business Management from University of Malaysia
•	 Dr Ishmael Magare, PhD in Educational Psychology from the University of Pretoria.

The total number of PhD holders in the University is now twenty-six.

Appointments - There were three new appointments. All the appointments were in the Academic 
Services Division.

Staff Health & Wellness

During the financial year the University engaged in staff welfare initiatives which included the 
Commemoration of Cancer awareness month and World AIDS Day. In recognition of the struggles 
people confront, BOU staff held a virtual in-depth discussion with an external professional regarding 
mental health issues. 

Physical fitness - The University takes physical fitness seriously and is involved in the fight against Non-
Communicable Diseases. There were several activities organised for staff, including a wellness walk 
and  aerobics.

The Annual Health and Wellness day gave Staff an opportunity to get general health examinations, 
donate blood, take part in team building games, and training of employees on welfare issues.

The BOU Psychosocial Team has been set up and is active, ensuring that staff are protected from the 
effects of COVID- 19 and other mental health issues. Staff Members were trained on mindfulness and 
happiness program.
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INFRASTRUCTURE AND THE ENVIRONMENT

The University recognises the importance of 
an adequate and safe working environment to 
support delivery of its mandate. This is a critical 
factor in ensuring that its employees take pleasure 
in going to work and being able to deliver to their 
utmost ability. 

Infrastructure Policy

During the period under review, the following 
key aspects were introduced in the Infrastructure 
Policy in view of the challenges experienced:

•	 Alignment of infrastructure delivery to the 
strategic objectives to ensure that all the 
investment in infrastructure is geared towards 
the attainment of the strategic objectives of 
the institution.

•	 Optimisation and effective upkeep of the 
available infrastructure to ensure that the 
facilities are used to their full potential and 
are well maintained to serve the intended 
purpose.

•	 Development of a comprehensive annual 
physical infrastructure plan to guide the 
delivery of annual maintenance programme 
and to ensure compliance and prioritisation of 
activities.

•	 Exploration of funding options for the 
envisaged infrastructure delivery. This 
intervention emphasises the need to explore 
other funding options as opposed to solely 
relying on Government support to deliver 
projects.

•	 Consideration of asset life cycle, which 
emphasises the selection of projects factoring 
in their entire life cycle for an informed 
investment decision.

•	 Incorporation of green building or sustainable 
design principles in infrastructure project plans 
to increase efficient use of energy, water, and 
materials as well as to reduce impacts on 
human health and the environment. 

Cost Containment initiatives for 
infrastructure development

In 2021-2022 a Cost Containment Strategy was 
formulated to inculcate a sustainable cost control 
culture in the institution, through the provision 
of innovative interventions in the institution’s 
operations.  Its implementation only commenced 
towards the end of the second half of the financial 
year, and it is anticipated that its impact will be 
realised in the subsequent years. 

From an infrastructure point of view, the plan 
targets three strategic areas namely:

•	 Planning and implementation where 
maintenance of buildings will be executed 
through comprehensive annual plans 
prioritising compliance and important 
operational areas.

•	 Optimisation of operational processes, which 
targets development of clear and effective 
project management framework for effective 
delivery of projects. Process automation and 
setting effective administrative controls as 
well as infusing energy efficiency principles in 
the facilities management function were also 
identified as key towards process optimisation.

•	 Delivery of projects will explore alternative 
project delivery modes such as Public Private 
Partnership to leverage on Private sector 
capacity and efficiencies.

Safety Health and Environment

The University’s Safety Health and Environment 
is governed by the SHE Policy. The policy was 
reviewed during the  current period to reaffirm 
the University’s commitment to providing a safe 
and healthy working and learning environment. 
The University SHE function is delivered through 
a committee from all the regional campuses. The 
Committee is coordinated through the Human 
Resources Department, with the Infrastructure 
and Office Services as the Secretariat. 
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RISK MANAGEMENT
Effective risk management is fundamental to the University’s business. BOU is committed to increasing 
its shareholder value by operating within the approved risk appetite statements. Council provides 
oversight over the governance of risk in the University and sets the direction for how risk should be 
approached and managed. Council has approved a risk architecture in which roles are clearly defined.  A 
Risk Management Framework through which risk management is directed is in place and is reviewed 
as scheduled or earlier as necessary. The framework was last reviewed in November 2022.

The Three Lines of Defence 

BOU has adopted the ‘Three Lines of Defence’ model to guide how risk management responsibilities 
should be divided. This model is supported by the Risk architecture in place.

MANAGEMENT

GOVERNING BODY
Accountability to stakeholders for organisational oversight

Provision of
products/services 

to clients:
managing risk

Independent and 
objective assurance

and advice on all
matters related to
the achievement

of objectives

Expertise, support,
monitoring and 
challenge on 

risk-related matters

Independent assurance

Governing body roles: integrity, leadership, and transparency

E
X

T
E

R
N

A
L

 A
S

S
U

R
A

N
C

E
 P

R
O

V
ID

E
R

S

Third line roles:

Actions (Including managing risk) to 
achieve organisational objectives

Second line roles:First line roles:

INTERNAL AUDIT
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The Risk Architecture 

 

 

COUNCIL 

 

AUDIT, RISK & 
COMPLIANCE 
COMMITTEE 

 

MANAGEMENT 

External 
Audit 

 

RISK 
MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE 

Internal Audit 

Risk 
Facilitator 

Council has delegated the responsibility for the governance of risk to the Council Audit, Risk and 
Compliance Committee. Management has been delegated the responsibility to develop the relevant 
policy, implement and execute effective risk management on a day-to-day basis. The Executive 
Management Team has established the University’s Risk Management Committee to assist it to ensure 
that BOU maintains an effective system of internal controls and risk management and that a culture of 
risk management is inculcated into the operations. The Risk Management Committee works through 
Risk Champions which ensure effective risk reporting. The Internal Audit Function provides independent 
assurance on the effectiveness and adequacy of risk management. The University’s External Auditors 
provide external assurance. These structures enable Council to provide effective oversight and direction 
over the governance of risk in the institution.
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Corporate Risks for 2022/23

The University prioritised the following Twelve Key Risks:

No. Risk Mitigation
1 Fraud and corruption Comply with the Procurement Act; procurement procedures and 

plans

2 Cyber security risk Adhere to cyber security protocols and standards

3 Lapses in Corporate 
Governance

Adherence to corporate governance protocols, compliance with 
laws and regulations and best practice principles, training and 
induction. 

4 Failure to implement 
the Strategy

Supervision of strategy cascading; continuous reporting to the EMT, 
Council Planning and Resources Committee and Council.

5 Low integrity in 
Examinations and 
Assessments

Quality assurance of examinations and scripts, application of the 
Academic Integrity Policy.

6 Deficiencies in the 
management of Part-
Time Tutors

Maintenance of Registers; Tutor Contracts, Tutor Records, 
Responsibility Matrix, Payment Schedule, Payment Verification 
Form.

7 Inadequate 
Subvention 

Implementation of the Business Development Strategy to generate 
3rd stream income, Implementation of the Cost Containment Plan, 
and the Asset Utilisation Plan; lobbying government for funding.

8 Financial blacklisting EFT payments; Automation and Decentralisation of payments

9 Negative brand 
perception

Brand awareness campaigns; customer feedback; brand perception 
survey

10 Failure to implement 
the Transformation 
Program

Program committee and Steering Committee established to keep 
the project on track; Staff engagement. 

11 Legal Risk Compliance with legal requirements, Policies, Codes of best 
practice, international standards.

12 Delay in BQA 
Accreditation

Adherence to BQA requirements; Special project on qualification, 
registration and programme accreditation commissioned.

The Risk Map

Risk Rating Risk Classification

High
Medium
Low

The risks were effectively managed throughout the year, and with the implementation of internal 
controls, some of the risks were reduced.
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KING IV APPLICATION REPORT
Principle Application Reference

Principle 1:
The governing body
should lead ethically
and effectively

Council has approved Policies 
that enable it to lead ethically and 
effectively, and adheres to these. 

•	 Council Code of Conduct

•	 Council Charter

•	 Committee Charters

•	 BOU Act

•	 BOU Statutes

•	 Conflict of Interests 
Policy

Principle 2:
The governing body 
should govern the ethics 
of the organisation in a 
way that supports the 
establishment of an 
ethical culture

Relevant policy on ethical conduct 
and integrity for compliance by Staff, 
students and service providers/
contractors are in place. 

•	 Conditions of Service

•	 Conflict of Interests 
Policy

•	 Anti-Fraud and Corruption 
Policy

•	 Disciplinary Procedures

Principle 3:
The governing body
should ensure that the
organisation is and seen 
to be a responsible citizen

Council recognises that BOU does not 
operate in a vacuum and ensures it co-
exist with society in which it operates 
and add value, takes care of its 
stakeholders, protects the environment 
in which it operates as well as observe 
its legal obligations. 

CSR and Community engagement 
activities are undertaken and reported. 
Council has approved appropriate policy 
for this course.

•	 CSR Policy

•	 SHE Policy

Principle 4:
The governing body
should appreciate that
the organisation’s
core purpose, its risk
and opportunities,
strategy, business
model, performance
and sustainable
development are
inseparable elements
of the value creations
process

Council has assumed the responsibility 
for organisational performance 
and approved the BOU Strategic 
Framework for 2036 as well as the 
Strategic Plan for 2019-2023. 

Council adopted a number of Policies 
intended to facilitate the achievement 
of the Strategic Objectives. 
Management implements the Strategic 
Plan and reports to Council. 

Risk Assessment is conducted on the 
Plan and internal controls are put in 
place.

•	 BOU Act

•	 BOU Statutes

•	 Council Charter

•	 Council Planning and 
Resources Committee 
Charter

•	 Strategic Framework 
2036

•	 Strategic Plan, 2019-2023
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Principle Application Reference
Principle 5:
The governing body
should ensure that
reports issued by the
organisation enable
stakeholders to make
informed assessment
of its performance and
its short-medium- and
long term prospects

The governing body assumes 
responsibility for the organisation’s 
reporting by setting the direction for 
how it should be approached and 
conducted.

Council ensures Compliance with 
Legislation and that required 
reports such as the Annual Financial 
Statements and the Annual Report 
are prepared accordingly and that 
information is communicated to 
stakeholders.

Council ensures that the following 
information is published on the 
organisation’s website, or on other 
platforms or through other media as is 
appropriate for access by stakeholders:

•	 Integrated Annual Report

•	 Identified approved University 
Policies

•	 Key announcements concerning the 
University

•	 Audited Annual Financial 
Statements

•	 BOU Integrated Annual 
Report

•	 BOU Website 

Principle 6
The governing body
should serve as the focal 
point and custodian of 
corporate
governance in the 
organisation

Council exercises its leadership role by:

•	 Steering the organisation and 
setting its strategic direction;

•	 Approving policy and  monitoring of 
implementation by management; 
and

•	 Ensuring accountability for 
organisational performance by 
means of, among others, reporting 
and disclosure.

•	 Council has documented its 
mandate, membership and 
operating procedures in the Council 
Charter.  The Charter is reviewed 
every three years or earlier as 
necessary for effectiveness and 
efficiency.

•	 Council discloses the number of 
meetings held during the reporting 
period, attendance and the rate of 
sitting allowances.

Council Charter

BOU IAR
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Principle Application Reference
Principle 7
The governing body
should comprise of the
appropriate balance
of knowledge, skill,
experience, diversity
and independence 
for it to discharge its 
governance role and 
responsibility objectively 
and effectively

Council is unable to fully ensure 
a diversity in terms of skills and 
expertise, age, gender, independence. 
Composition is as prescribed by the 
Act. There are different appointing 
constituents including the President of 
the Republic, Minister, Chancellor, and 
Staff. 

However, an appropriate balance does 
exist in terms of diversity of skills, 
expertise and gender. 

BOU Act

Principle 8
The governing body
should ensure that
its arrangement for
delegation within its
own structures promote 
independent judgment 
and assist with balance of 
power and the effective 
discharge of its duties

Council has delegated different roles 
to its Committees. Delegation is done 
through Committee Charters.

The following are disclosed in relation 
to each Committee

•	 Mandate

•	 Composition

•	 Number of meetings held

•	 Attendance

•	 Key areas of focus 

•	 Statement on execution of mandate

•	 Council Charter

•	 Committee Charters 
– CHRC, CFC, CPRC, 
CARCC, SSAPRC

•	 Statutes

•	 BOU IAR

Principle 9
The governing body
should ensure that the
evaluation of its own
performance and its
committee, its chair
and its individual
members, support
continued improvement
in its performance and
effectiveness

Council could not have a  formal 
evaluation of its performance due to 
financial constraints since 2021

King IV Code

Council Charter
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Principle Application Reference
Principle 10
The governing body
should ensure that 
the appointment of, 
and delegation to, 
management contributes 
to role clarity and 
the effective exercise 
of authority and 
responsibility

The Minister has appointed the Vice 
Chancellor (VC) who is responsible 
for leading the implementation and 
execution of approved strategy, policy 
and operational planning, and serves 
as the chief link between management 
and the governing body.

The VC is accountable to, and reports 
to, Council. 

The VC is not a member of the 
committee responsible for audit but 
attends as part of Management to 
respond to queries.

Appointment of the VC is done by the 
Minister in consultation with Council 
and Senate. 

A Secretary is in place to provide 
professional corporate governance 
services to Council.

•	 Council Charter

•	 BOU Act

Principle 11
The governing body
should govern risk in a
way that supports the
organisation in setting
and achieving strategic
objectives

Council is responsible for the 
governance of risk and provides 
oversight.

Council has approved a risk 
Management framework which sets 
direction on risk management

Council has delegated the responsibility 
for risk governance to the Audit, Risk 
and Compliance Committee.

Management implements the 
Framework and reports to the CARCC 

•	 Council Charter

•	 CARCC Charter

•	 Risk Management 
Framework

•	 Corporate Risk Register

•	 Risk Management 
Reports

Principle 12
The governing body 
should govern technology 
and information in a way
that supports the 
organisation setting and 
achieving its strategic 
objectives

Council governs technology and 
information, as well as IT related risks. 

•	 Information Technology 
Policies and Strategies

•	 Disaster Management 
Policy

•	 Corporate Risk Register

Principle Application Reference
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Principle 13
The governing 
body should govern 
compliance with
applicable laws and
adopted non-binding
rules, codes and 
standards in a way that 
supports the organisation 
being ethical and a good 
corporate citizen.

Council provides oversight over 
the governance of compliance with 
applicable laws and adopted, non-
binding rules, codes and standards and 
has delegated the responsibility to the 
CARCC, to ensure effectice compliance 
arrangments. 

Council has approved a Compliance 
Policy that sets the direction for 
compliance.

Management is responsible for 
implementation and execution of 
effective compliance

•	 BOU Act

•	 Council Charter

•	 CARCC Charter

•	 Compliance Policy

Principle 14
The governing body
should ensure that the 
organisation renumerates 
fairly, responsibly and
transparently to promote 
the achievement of 
strategic objectives and 
positive outcomes in 
short, medium and long 
term.

Council has adopted a remuneration 
structure, though overtaken by inflation 
and other factors because of the 
University’s dire financial situation.

•	 Payment Structure

•	 Conditions of Service

•	 PMS

Principle 15
The governing body
should ensure that
assurance services
and functions enable
an effective control
environment and that
these support the
integrity of information
for external decision
making and of the
organisation’s external 
reports.

Council has delegated to the CARCC, 
the responsibility to ensure:

•	 an effective internal control 
environment.

•	 the integrity of information used 
for internal decision-making by 
management, the governing body 
andits committees.

•	 Supporting the integrity of external 
reports.

•	 Statutes

•	 CARCC Charter



Annual Report 2022\23
BOU Integrated 51

51

BOU Integrated Annual Report 2022-23

Audited Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

OUR FINANCIAL 
REPORT

51



BOU Integrated Annual Report 2022-23

52

General Information

Country of incorporation and domicile Botswana

Nature of business and principal activities Open and distance learning

Council Members Charles I Coyne II - Chairman
Festina S Bakwena -Vice Chairperson
Dr Daniel R Tau - Vice Chancellor
Professor Mpine M Makoe
Kgopotso T Ramoroka
Oupa Masesane
Tsoseletso E Magang
Professor Kgomotso Moahi - Acting Vice Chancellor
Onalenna Sechele
Professor Mpine E Makoe
Godfrey Molefe
Professor Sunny E Aiyuk
Professor Bantu Morolong
Uyapo Ndadi 
Tendani Nkolo
Dr Joseph Agolla

Registered office Plot 39972
Corner of Western Bypass
Garamotlhose Road
Gaborone
Botswana

Postal address Private Bag BO187
Bontleng
Gaborone

Bankers Access Bank Botswana Limited 
ABSA Bank Botswana Limited
First National Bank Botswana Limited
Vunani Fund managers 
Botswana Savings Bank

Auditors Grant Thomton
Chartered Accountants
Member Firm of Grant Thomton International Ltd



Annual Report 2022\23
BOU Integrated 53

53

BOU Integrated Annual Report 2022-23

 page

Council member’s Responsibilities and Approval 54

Council Member’s Report 55

Independent Auditor’s Report 57

Statement of Financial Position 61

Statement of Income and Expenditure 62

Statement of Changes in Equity 63

Statement of Cash Flows 64

Accounting Policies 65

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 76

The following supplementary information does not form part of the annual 
financial statements and is unaudited: 

Detailed Income Statement 95

Botswana Open University
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2023

Contents



BOU Integrated Annual Report 2022-23

54

Botswana Open University 
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 

Councll Member's Responsibilities and Approval 

The Council Members are required in terms of the Botswana Open University Act 2017 to maintain adequate accounting records 
and are responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements and related financial information included in this 
report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the university as at the 
end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in confomiity with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the financial statements. 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. 

The council members acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by 
the university and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the council members to 
meet these responsibilities, the council members set standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a 
cost-effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective 
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the university and all  employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the university's 
business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the 
university is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the university. While operating risk 
cannot be fully eliminated, the university endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems 
and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints. 

The council members are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of 
internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the financial 
statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. 

The council members have reviewed the university's cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2024 and, in light of this review 
and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the university has or had access to adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. 

The financial statements set out on page 61, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the Council 
on 11 October 2023 and were signed on their behalf by: 

Approval of financial statements 

Charles I Coyne 11- Chairper Professor Kgomotso Moahi-Acting Vice Chancellor 

3 

Botswana Open University
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2023

Council Members’ Responsibilities and Approval
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0 GrantThornton

Independent Auditor's Report 

To the Members of the Council of Botswana Open University 

Opinion 

Chartered Accoul'ltDnts 

Grant Thornton 
Acumen Park, Plot 50370 
Fairgrounds, Gaborone 
PO Box 1157 
Gaborone, Botswana 

T +267 395 2313 
F +267 397 2357 
linkedln.com/company/Grc11'lt-Thamton41at:awano 
twitter.com/GrantThomtonBW 

We have audited the annual f inancial statements of the Botswana Open University ("The University") set out on pages 10 
to 43, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, annual financial Statements give a true and fair view of, the financial position of the Botswana Open University 
as at 31 March 2023, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Botswana Open University Act of 2017. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the University in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (Parts 1, 3 and 4A) (IESBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing 
audits of financial statements in Botswana. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA 
Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in Botswana. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to note 23 in the annual financial statements, which indicates that the University incurred a net loss of 
P9 945 261 (2022: P12 075 264) during the year ended 31 March 2023 and, accumulated losses of P53 170 501 
(2022:P43 225 241) and, as of that date, the University's current liabilities exceeded its current assets by P53 365 950 (P2022: 
P43 484 634. As stated in note 23, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in note 23, indicate that a 
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the University's ability to continue as a going concern. Our o inion 
is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Botswana Accountancy Oversi9ht Authority registration number: FAP 005 2023 (A.udit Firm of Public Interest Entity) 
Botswana Institute of cnartered Accountants membership number: MeFBW11013 (Non-Audit) 

Partners 
Kalyanoromon Vijoy {Managing). Aswin Voidyanathan*, Madhavan Venkatochory*, Anthony Ouashie. Sunny K Mulakulam*, 
Aparna Vijay* ('*Indian) 

Momber of Grant-l� Ltd 
OlflcNlnCoborone8FNino-

www.grantthornton.�.bw 
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Grant Thornton 

Responsibilities of the Members of the Council for the Annual Financial Statements 

The Members of the Council are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Botswana Open University Act of 
2017, and for such internal control as the Members of the Council determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the annual financial Statements, the Members of the Council are responsible for assessing the University's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the Members of the Council either intend to liquidate the University or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the University's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the Annual Financlal Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
University's internal control. 
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the council members. 
Conclude on the appropriateness of the members of the Council use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the University's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the annual 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
University to cease to continue as a going concern. 
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the annual financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the activities within the University 
to express an opinion on the annual financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the members of the Council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the members of the Council with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

Botswana Open University
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Accounting Policies
An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for
assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts
of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill is
recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.9 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation
leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical aid), are recognised in the period in which the service
is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their
entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive
obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to industry-managed (or state plans) retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined contribution plans
where the university’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

1.10 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:
 the university has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
 it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and
 a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the
reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity
settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement
shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 25.

1.11 Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that:
 the university will comply with the conditions attaching to them; and
 the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs that they are
intended to compensate.

A government grant that becomes receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving 
immediate financial support to the entity with no future related costs is recognised as income of the period in which it becomes
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Accounting Policies
receivable.

Government grants related to assets, including non-monetary grants at fair value, are presented in the statement of financial
position by setting up the grant as deferred income or by deducting the grant in arriving at the carrying amount of the asset.

Grants related to income are presented as a credit in the profit or loss (separately).

Repayment of a grant related to income is applied first against any un-amortised deferred credit set up in respect of the grant.
To the extent that the repayment exceeds any such deferred credit, or where no deferred credit exists, the repayment is recognised
immediately as an expense.

1.11 Government grants (continued)

Repayment of a grant related to an asset is recorded by increasing the carrying amount of the asset or reducing the deferred
income balance by the amount repayable. The cumulative additional depreciation that would have been recognised to date as
an expense.

1.12 Revenue from contracts with customers

The university recognises revenue from the following major sources:
 Student and tuition fees are recognised over the period of the courses.
 Any amount received from students in advance for the courses not yet attended is deferred to the future periods

where the courses are attended.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. The university recognises revenue when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer.

Interest is recognised in the profit and loss, using the effective interest method.

Rental income on leases is recognised on straight line basis over the lease period.

1.13 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Pulas, by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot
exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

At the end of the reporting period:
 foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;
 non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the

exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and
 non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at

the date when the fair value was determined.

In circumstances where the university receives or pays an amount in foreign currency in advance of a transaction, the transaction 
date for purposes of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, income or expense is the date 
on which the university initially recognised the non-monetary item arising on payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, university determines a date of transaction for each payment or receipt of
advance consideration.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different from those
at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous annual financial statements are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
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Detailed Income Statement

Botswana Open University
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Detailed Statement of Income and Expenditure
2021 2020

P P

Revenue
Students application and tuition fees 41,774,177 37,100,974

Other operating income
Rental income 1,277,494 1,273,509
Amortisation of capital grants 10,479,736 8,322,983
Tenders 16,150 34,675
Other income 2,427,479 1,424,568
Government grants 129,647,578 177,957,157

143,848,437 189,012,892

Other operating gains/(losses)
Gains on disposal of assets or settlement of liabilities - 906,072
Foreign exchange gains 19,160 39,666

19,160 945,738

Movement in credit loss allowances - (2,657,357)

Expenses (Refer to page 39) (201,240,361) (203,593,860)

Operating (loss)/profit (15,598,587) 20,808,387
Investment income 921,762 1,106,787
Finance costs (101,280) (165,185)
(Deficit)/surplus for the year (14,778,105) 21,749,989

38
The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited
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